SUPREME COURT **FILED**

JUN 20 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

WESLEY CIAN CLANCEY,

Defendant and Respondent.

No. S200158

(Court of Appeal No. H036501)

(Santa Clara County Superior Court Nos. C1072166 and C1073855)

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA HONORABLE RENE NAVARRO, JUDGE PRESIDING

SIXTH DISTRICT APPELLATE PROGRAM

DALLAS SACHER
Executive Director
State Bar #100175
100 N. Winchester Blvd., Suite 310
Santa Clara, CA 95050
(408) 241-6171

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Should this court grant review in order to consider the Court of Appeal's majority opinion which has brought the "indicated sentence" procedure into question?
- II. Should this court grant review in order to resolve the conflict in the case law as to whether a defendant is allowed to withdraw his guilty plea if the trial court decides that it cannot comply with the terms of its "indicated sentence?"
- III. Should this court grant review in order to assess the merit of the holding in *People v. Woosley* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 1136 that a trial court may not offer an "indicated sentence" if the promised term cannot be achieved absent the dismissal of the punishment for an enhancement pursuant to Penal Code section 1385?
- IV. If a defendant is charged with a strike prior pursuant to Penal Code section 1170.12, does a trial court engage in proscribed "plea bargaining" under section 1170.12 when it offers an "indicated sentence" that requires the exercise of Penal Code section 1385 discretion to dismiss the punishment for a strike prior?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 30, 2010, respondent was charged in a first amended complaint filed in the Santa Clara County Superior Court in case number C1072166. (CT 18-20.) Respondent was charged with two counts of forgery (Penal Code section 470, subdivision (d)), two counts of grand theft (Penal Code sections 484 and 487) and one count of false personation (Penal Code section 529). (CT 18-19.) Respondent was also charged with a strike prior pursuant to Penal Code section 1170.12. (CT 19.)

On April 30, 2010, respondent was charged in a first amended complaint filed in the Santa Clara County Superior Court in case number C1073855. (CT 22-25.) Respondent was charged with three counts of attempted grant theft (Penal Code sections 487 and 664), two counts of using a stolen access card (Penal Code sections 484g and 488) and one count each of second degree burglary (Penal Code section 459), receiving stolen property (Penal Code section 496), delaying an officer (Penal Code section 148, subdivision (a)(1)) and giving a false name to an officer (Penal Code section 148.9). (CT 22-24.) Respondent was also charged with an on-bail enhancement pursuant to Penal Code section 12022.1 and a strike prior pursuant to Penal Code section 1170.12. (CT 24-25.)

On August 19, 2010, both of respondent's cases were heard on the early resolution calendar. (CT 36.) Based on the court's offer of an indicated

sentence of five years, respondent pled nolo contendere to all counts and admitted the enhancements. (CT 36.) The People objected to the court's action. (CT 36.)

On October 5, 2010, the People filed a motion for reconsideration of the indicated sentence. (CT 42-120.) The People also objected to the court's intention to dismiss respondent's strike prior pursuant to Penal Code section 1385. (CT 42-120.)

On November 16, 2010, the court sentenced respondent to five years in prison. (CT 178.) In case number C1072166, the court imposed the midterm of two years for one of the forgery convictions and a consecutive eight month term for the second forgery conviction. (CT 178.) The remaining sentences were run concurrent. (CT 178.) In case number C1073855, the court imposed eight month consecutive sentences for second degree burglary and using a stolen access card and consecutive four month sentences for the three counts of attempted grand theft. (CT 178-179.) The court struck the punishment for the Penal Code section 12022.1 enhancement and the Penal Code section 1170.12 enhancement pursuant to Penal Code section 1385. (CT 176-177.)

On January 13, 2011, the People filed notices of appeal in both of respondent's cases. (CT 181, 186.)

On January 10, 2012, the Court of Appeal reversed the judgment by a vote of 2-1. (Court of Appeal opinion.) On January 23, 2012, respondent filed

a petition for rehearing. On January 30, 2012, the court denied rehearing. (Court of Appeal order of January 30, 2012.) Justice Lucero voted to grant rehearing. (Court of Appeal order of January 30, 2012.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts underlying the offenses are not material to the issues on appeal. Therefore, only a brief recitation of the facts is provided.

Case Number C1072166

On March 13, 2010, respondent used a fraudulent check to buy 20 gift cards at the Westfield Mall. (CT 130.) The gift cards were valued at \$5060.

On March 16, 2010, respondent went to the Great Mall and represented himself to be Curtis Poseyesva. (CT 130.) Respondent submitted a fraudulent check in an attempt to buy \$7540 worth of gift cards. (CT 130.) Respondent was arrested at the scene. (CT 131.)

Case Number C1073855

Between April 9, 2010 and April 13, 2010, respondent fraudulently used a credit card on several occasions and accrued charges to Y.A. Tittle and Associates. (CT 133.) On April 12, 2010, an employee at the Capitola Mall declined to sell gift cards to respondent based on his attempt to use the Y.A. Tittle account. (CT 133.)

On April 13, 2010, respondent used a stolen credit card belonging to Margaret Froehlich to rent a limousine. (CT 131.) Respondent rode in the

limousine to Santana Row. (CT 131.) While at Santana Row, respondent attempted to use a stolen credit card and was arrested. (CT 132.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The majority in the Court of Appeal concluded that prior cases "have failed to devise a clear and coherent test for determining whether a trial court's actions amounted to an improper judicial plea bargain or were instead a permissible indicated sentence." (Majority Opinion, p. 10.) This assertion is incorrect. The parameters for a lawful indicated sentence are well settled.

The trial court properly provides an indicated sentence when it advises the defendant that a specified sentence will be imposed "if he or she pleads guilty or no contest to all charges and admits all allegations. [Citation.]" (*People v. Feyrer* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 426, 434, fn. 6.) The trial court acts properly so long as it does not expressly negotiate the length of the sentence or coerce the defendant's plea by stating that its sentence would be harsher after a trial. While the People may challenge the court's act of negotiating a sentence, they lack standing to argue that a plea has been coerced since the right to enter a plea is personal to the defendant.

A trial court enjoys broad discretion in controlling its calendar. If the People raise an appellate challenge to the trial court's decision to offer an indicated sentence, reversal is warranted only if the People can establish an abuse of discretion. In applying the abuse of discretion standard, the reviewing court should assess the totality of the trial court's conduct and may

not reverse based on a single stray comment made by the court.

If the trial court determines at the time of sentencing that it cannot impose a promised indicated sentence, the defendant must be offered the opportunity to withdraw his plea. (*People v. Superior Court (Felmann)*(1976) 59 Cal.App.3d 270, 276.) This principle is compelled by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment which requires that a defendant must be allowed a remedy when a governmental official declines to enforce a previously made promise. (*People v. Mancheno* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 855, 860.)

According to *People v. Woosley*, supra, 184 Cal.App.4th 1136, a proper indicated sentence may not be found when imposition of the sentence requires the court to dismiss the punishment for an enhancement pursuant to Penal Code section 1385. The rationale for this conclusion is that the trial court's application of section 1385 impermissibly encroaches on the "prosecutor's charging authority." (*Id.* at p. 1147.) This is simply untrue. If the defendant is required to admit all of the charges and allegations in the charging document, the prosecutor has achieved the best result possible. Indeed, a restriction on the court's exercise of its section 1385 would result in the prosecutor's improper intrusion on the court's power. (*People v. Superior Court (Felmann)*, supra, 59 Cal.App.3d 270, 275 ["the exercise of sentencing power cannot be made subject to the consent of the district attorney because the requirement of that consent is an injection of the executive into the

province of the judicial branch of government. [Citation].").] *Woosley* should be overruled.

In order to impose the promised indicated sentence in this case, the court exercised its Penal Code section 1385 power to dismiss the punishment for a strike prior. This conduct did not violate Penal Code sections 667, subdivision (g) and 1170.12 subdivision (e) since those statutes apply only to prosecutors and do not preclude a court from offering an indicated sentence in a case falling under the Three Strikes law. This conclusion is also compelled by the principle of separation of powers since a contrary result would impermissibly intrude on the court's power to regulate its docket and expeditiously resolve cases.

I.

THE MAJORITY OPINION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL PROVIDES AN UNWORKABLE TEST THAT IS INCONSISTENT WITH SETTLED PRECEDENT AND ITS ANALYSIS IS DEVOID OF ANY NEXUS TO THE CONSTITUTIONAL PRINCIPLE ON WHICH IT SUPPOSEDLY RESTS.

On August 19, 2010, respondent appeared on the trial court's early resolution calendar. The trial court gave an indicated sentence of five years. (1 RT 4.) Since imposition of the five year term would require the court to strike the punishment for respondent's serious felony prior pursuant to Penal Code section 1385, the prosecutor objected that the court was engaging in plea

bargaining that is prohibited by Penal Code section 667, subdivision (g). (1 RT 5.) Over the prosecutor's objection, the court proceeded to take respondent's no contest pleas to all charges and admissions to all of the alleged enhancements. (1 RT 18-23.)

Subsequently, the People filed a motion for reconsideration and renewed the claim that the court had engaged in plea bargaining that was prohibited by Penal Code section 667, subdivision (g). (CT 43-45.) The People also argued that it would be an abuse of discretion for the court to strike the punishment for respondent's serious felony prior. (CT 46-55.)

At the sentencing hearing, the trial court rejected the contention that it had engaged in plea bargaining. (2 RT 60.) The court exercised its section 1385 power and struck the punishment for respondent's serious felony prior. (2 RT 61.) The court specified six separate reasons in support of its decision. (1 RT 61, 2 CT 175.)½/ Consistent with the indicated sentence, the court imposed a five year sentence. (2 RT 62.)

The Court of Appeal majority found fault with the trial court's conduct since it had made its promised sentence "contingent" on respondent's no contest pleas. (Majority Opinion, p. 10.) In the majority's view, the trial court had given respondent "an improper inducement" since its goal was to "settle"

¹The People have made no claim on appeal that the trial court abused its discretion in striking the prior.

the case. (Majority Opinion, p. 11.) This holding flies in the face of precedent and the constitutional doctrine on which it purportedly rests.

The issue before the court involves a question of separation of powers.

The question is not a close one. The instant trial court acted well within its constitutional prerogatives. For the reasons that follow, the majority opinion must be reversed.

The genesis of the indicated sentence procedure lies in this court's decision in *People v. Orin* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 937. There, the defendant was charged with three counts. The prosecutor was unwilling to plea bargain. Acting on its own motion, the trial court offered the defendant a "'plea bargain" by which it accepted a guilty plea to one count in exchange for the dismissal of the other two counts. (*Id.* at pp. 940-941.) This court found that the court had improperly intruded into the prosecutor's domain by substituting "itself as the representative of the People in the negotiation process" (*Id.* at p. 943.) The error made by the trial court lay in its improper conduct in dismissing charges over the prosecutor's objection.

Significantly, this court drew a careful distinction between proscribed judicial plea bargaining and the proper exercise of the judicial sentencing function. In particular, the court observed that the trial judge is not powerless to deal with the prosecutor's obdurate refusal to settle a case.

"On the other hand, sentencing discretion wisely and

properly exercised should not capitulate to rigid prosecutorial policies manifesting an obstructionist position toward all plea bargaining irrespective of the circumstances of the individual case. As the calendars of trial courts become increasingly congested, the automatic refusal of prosecutors to consider plea bargaining as a viable alternative to a lengthy trial may militate against the efficient administration of justice, impose unnecessary costs upon taxpayers, and subject defendants to the harassment and trauma of avoidable trials. [Citation.] A court may alleviate this burden placed upon our criminal justice system if this can be accomplished by means of a permissible exercise of judicial sentencing discretion in an appropriate case." (*Orin*, supra, 13 Cal.3d at p. 949.)

Soon after *Orin* was decided, the practice of offering an indicated sentence was approved in *People v. Superior Court (Felmann)*, supra, 59 Cal.App.3d 270. The *Felmann* court reasoned that the proffer of an indicated sentence does not invade the constitutional province of the District Attorney if the defendant is made to plead guilty to all of the charges. This is so since "the exercise of sentencing power cannot be made subject to the consent of the district attorney because the requirement of that consent is an injection of the executive into the province of the judicial branch of government. [Citation.]" (*Id.* at p. 275.)

The *Felmann* court made clear that form was not to be "exalted over substance" in the context of the indicated sentence procedure. (*Felmann*, supra, 59 Cal.App.3d 270, 276.) The court acknowledged that the offer of an indicated sentence is a form of a "conditional plea" which allows the defendant to withdraw his plea if the promised sentence is not imposed. (*Ibid.*)

Over time, the indicated sentence procedure has been approved by the appellate courts and has become a regular feature of the efficient administration of trial court calendars. (See *People v. Allan* (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1507, 1516 and cases cited therein.) As this court has recently acknowledged, a trial court properly provides an indicated sentence when it advises the defendant that a specified sentence will be imposed "if he or she pleads guilty or no contest to all charges and admits all allegations. [Citation.]" (*People v. Feyrer*, supra, 48 Cal.4th 426, 434, fn. 6.)

Stripped to its essence, the indicated sentence procedure carefully balances the constitutional roles of the prosecutor and the court. By requiring a plea to all charges, the court honors the prosecutor's constitutional discretion to decide what charges should be adjudicated. Insofar as the defendant is found liable for *everything* alleged by the prosecutor, the People have no grievance that the court has intruded into the prosecutorial domain. On the other hand, the prosecutor can have no legitimate objection to the promised disposition since it is the court's constitutional function to determine the proper sentence. (*People v. Superior Court (Felmann)*, supra, 59 Cal.App.3d 270, 275.)

With regard to the last point, *People v. Superior Court (On Tai Ho)* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 59 is persuasive authority that the prosecutor is constitutionally prohibited from vetoing the court's decision to offer an

indicated sentence. There, this court considered a statute that required the prosecutor's consent before the court could grant diversion. After determining that the disposition of a case is solely within the power of the court, this court held that the statute was violative of separation of powers since the prosecution is prohibited from controlling the court's sentencing power. (*Id.* at pp. 66-68.)

A parallel situation is presented here. When a defendant accepts an indicated sentence, he is necessarily admitting all of the charges in the case. Once this occurs, the prosecutor is constitutionally powerless to veto the court's decision regarding the proper disposition of the case. (*On Tai Ho*, supra, 11 Cal.3d at pp. 66-68.)

Notwithstanding these rather straightforward and easy to follow principles, the majority in the Court of Appeal has sought to upset the apple cart by devising a vague test that is unworkable, unprincipled and inconsistent with existing law. In the majority's view, an indicated sentence is improper when "it induces a defendant to plead guilty or no contest." (Majority Opinion, p. 10.) Although the majority failed to provide any guidance as to the exact meaning of "inducement," it made clear that it saw improper inducement in this case.

"The court informed defendant through the plea colloquy that it would impose a five-year term and strike the strike if he admitted all of the charges and allegations. This was an improper inducement for defendant to enter pleas and admissions." (Majority Opinion, p. 11, emphasis in original.)

There are multiple objections to the quoted conclusion. The objections are both legal and practical.

First, the majority opinion found that the court erred because it premised its offered indicated sentence on the requirement that respondent admit "all of the charges and allegations." However, this is the essential hallmark of the indicated sentence procedure. (*People v. Feyrer*, supra, 48 Cal.4th 426, 434, fn. 6.) It would appear that the majority's reasoning would entirely do away with indicated sentences.

Second, the majority's focus on the term "induce" is simply unworkable. An offer of an indicated sentence will necessarily "induce" a plea in the sense that "induce" is a verb that means "[t]o bring about." (Webster's II New Riverside University Dictionary (1984) p. 624, col. 2.) As a simple matter of reality, there will be no plea absent the proffered indicated sentence. Thus, the offer of the indicated sentence has necessarily "induced" the plea. Once again, it is unclear as to how there can ever be a proper indicated sentence under the majority's test.

Third, the majority's conclusion is entirely unmoored from the applicable constitutional principle. As has been discussed above, the prosecutor suffered no harm in this case since respondent admitted each and every allegation made against him. The prosecutor was therefore barred from exercising a veto against the court's sentencing decision.

Fourth, there is no doubt that the indicated sentence procedure is a vital tool in the efficient administration of justice. As this court has so wisely foretold, the procedure is invaluable in clearing the court's calendar when the prosecutor refuses to be reasonable. (*People v. Orin*, supra, 13 Cal.3d 937, 949; accord, *People v. Superior Court (Ramos)* (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1261, 1269.) A simple hypothetical establishes the proper functioning of the indicated sentence procedure.

Assume that an 85 year old man is captured on videotape as he steals a razor from a drugstore. The man has two robbery prior convictions that are 60 years old. The prosecutor brings a felony charge of petty theft with a prior and seeks a sentence of 25 years to life under the Three Strikes law. At an early resolution calendar, the judge is told that the defendant has had an absolutely clean record for 60 years and is in ill health. The judge is also told that the videotape conclusively establishes the defendant's guilt. On this record, the judge is fully entitled to offer an indicated sentence of a grant of probation if the defendant is willing to plead guilty to the felony charge and admit his strike priors. Patently, this result efficiently serves the interests of justice insofar as a reasonable sentence is imposed without the need for an entirely useless trial. (*People v. Orin*, supra, 13 Cal.3d at p. 949 [the trial court may circumvent the "automatic refusal of prosecutors to consider plea bargaining . . . by means of a permissible exercise of judicial sentencing

discretion in an appropriate case."].)

In fairness to the Court of Appeal majority, it is true that the *Felmann* court and this court have used the word "inducement." However, the use in question provides a definition for improper judicial plea bargaining which is absent from the majority's proposed test.

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