In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

WESLEY CIAN CLANCEY,

Defendant and Respondent.

Case No. S200158

SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 1 0 2012

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H036501

Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. C1072166, C1073855

Deputy

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

The Honorable Rene Navarro, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

prosecution and the defense, and a plea bargain is ineffective unless and until it is approved by the court." (*Alvernaz*, *supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 941.) "In exercising their discretion to approve or reject proposed plea bargains, trial courts are charged with the protection and promotion of the public's interest in vigorous prosecution of the accused, imposition of appropriate punishment, and protection of victims of crimes." (*Ibid.*) Hence, a plea agreement between the parties does not "bind a trial court which is required to weigh the presentence report and exercise its customary sentencing discretion." (*People v. Kaanehe* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 1, 14.)

A trial court making its own conditional plea agreement for sentencing leniency does not weigh a probation officer's report or exercise "customary sentencing discretion" as it does when deciding to approve or reject a bargain negotiated by the parties. The court alters its customary sentencing discretion by limiting its available powers through the inducement offered for the waivers of constitutional rights and the pleas, which "detract[s] from the judge's ability to remain detached and neutral in evaluating the . . . fairness of the bargain to society as well as to the defendant." (*Orin*, *supra*, 13 Cal.3d at p. 943.) As shown *post*, the evils described in *Orin* manifest themselves in this case.

B. The Record Establishes a Judicial Plea Bargain

The trial court induced defendant's pleas and admissions with its promise of the dismissal of a strike and a sentence below the minimum two-strike sentence for conviction on all charges. Defendant accepted the court's offer to exchange his pleas and admissions in a package disposition to obtain the reciprocal benefit of a less severe punishment than would result were he convicted after trial.

The trial court offered a plea agreement at a sentence discount "somewhat less than the going disposition at a trial department." (1 RT 7.) The court's consideration was its promise to dismiss a prior strike and to

impose a five-year prison sentence. (1 RT 4, 9; 2 RT 59.) The promised sentence was represented to defendant as one below the legislative minimum applicable to findings on all charges and allegations. (1 RT 16, 17.) The court conditioned its leniency on the "plea agreement" offered in the defendant's cases sent to the ERC. (1 RT 3-4, 7, 9.) Those promises were made pursuant to the court's assignment to settle as many cases as it can through its discussions with counsel and to sentence in accord with its plea agreements. Its offer, as the majority and dissent below tacitly agreed, was unavailable after a trial or even before trial outside the ERC. (1 RT 4-5; 2 RT 55, 62.)

The trial court's package disposition was a sentence offer below the statutory minimum. (1 RT 17; 2 RT 56.) It mooted bargaining over the longer sentence tendered by the prosecutor. (2 RT 59.) Its promises directly induced defendant's early pleas. (1 RT 7, 16, 17.) This conditional plea agreement rested on the court's promised leniency exchanged for the defendant's constitutional waivers and pleas. That the trial court took pleas to all charges before dismissing the prior strike fails to distinguish the plead-to-one-dismiss-another package disposition overturned in *Orin*. Orin's rule is against dismissing properly charged parts of an accusatory pleading as a reciprocal benefit merely to induce a guilty plea to another proper charge. It is functionally identical to this case, where the plea agreement promised sentencing leniency on findings left after a promised dismissal of another finding. If there is a difference from Orin, it is that the trial court here specified a sentence that it informed the defendant was lower than the "going disposition" (1 RT 6-7)—the sentence available to the defendant if he were not to waive his rights and was sent to the trial department as a consequence of that decision.

Orin accurately predicted that "it would frustrate the orderly and effective operation of our criminal procedure as envisioned by the

Legislature if without proper and adequate reason section 1385 were used to terminate the prosecution of defendants for crimes properly charged in accordance with legal procedure." (*Orin*, *supra*, 13 Cal.3d at p. 947.) Today, as then, a trial court may not "frustrate the legitimate prosecution of a defendant by arranging a 'package disposition' of the charges against him over the People's objection." (*Ibid*.)

C. The Trial Court's Ruling and the Dissent's View of an Indicated Sentence Are Meritless

1. Trial court's ruling

The trial court justified its plea agreement with its historical practices. The dissent incorrectly found its reasoning irrelevant. In stating that prosecutors attend ERC discussions and had consented to earlier plea agreements there (2 RT 58, 60), the trial court was confused as to the law. Prosecutorial participation in settlement discussions is obligatory in this state. (*Bryce v. Superior Court* (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 671, 672.) And an indicated sentence requires no prosecutorial consent. (*People v. Turner*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at pp. 418-419.) Consent by the prosecutor to a plea agreement is characteristic of a conditional plea bargain negotiated by the parties (§ 1192.5), not an indicated sentence. There was no consent to the court's offer or its plea agreement here. (1 RT 4-5.)

The trial court signaled a judicial plea bargain in its ruling. It said it did not impose a sentence under its plea agreements when an "additional factor" appeared "weighty enough" that "it allowed the court to set aside the plea," a situation that "would require this court to set aside the plea because of new information" (2 RT 59-60.) That is, the trial court views new facts of sufficient weight a condition to reassertion of its ordinary sentencing powers after a defendant accepts its plea agreements. Yet, new facts are not needed to reject an indicated sentence any more than they are to disapprove a plea bargain. (See *Segura*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p.

930 [trial court may reject a plea bargain when it believes it is not "fair"]; cf. §§ 1018 [defendant must show good cause for court to grant permission to withdraw a plea of guilty or no contest]; 1192.5 [a conditional plea agreed to by the parties is ineffectual unless approved by the court; statute contains no requirement of good cause or new facts needed for trial court's disapproval].) The trial court's practice is explicable only if approval of its offered inducement is implicit when the defendant pleads in reliance thereon, rendering the plea agreement nonrescindable absent good cause, which the defendant has no incentive to show.

The trial court also found an indicated sentence because it considered the five-year sentence informed and fair. (2 RT 58-59.) Nothing in the record reflects the prosecutor's tendered offer of an eight- or nine-year sentence was not also informed and fair. A trial court no less abuses discretion by offering a plea bargain that preempts a range of presumptively fair sentencing outcomes as by offering one that does not.

The dangers of judicial plea bargains appear in the trial court's actions and in its ruling. Improper judicial inducements inject extraneous considerations into the duty of a trial court to consider impartially whether to approve or disapprove sentencing commitments and leave the court open to charges of coercion. Once agreed to by defendant, the court's offer effectively moots plea bargaining between a prosecutor and defense counsel. Here, the court offered a term less than half the minimum authorized by conviction on all charges in the complaints, and at least three years less than the eight- or nine-year sentence tendered by the prosecutor. It is impossible, on this record, to know if the defense was prepared to negotiate with the prosecutor to try to better the offer of eight or nine years. The court's plea agreement removed the incentive of defense counsel to try. Defendant's real incentive, if one existed, was to horse trade with the court to try to sweeten the deal.

2. The dissent below

The latter point undermines the argument, made by the dissent below and largely embraced by defendant here, that a court's promissory offer sufficient to induce pleas to all charges is an indicated sentence, so long as the record does not show the trial court was talked into changing its initial sentence offer by defense counsel, or actively negotiated the sentence with defense counsel, or threatened the defendant with a longer sentence after trial. (Since the threat of a longer sentence is implicit in ERC plea offers, the dissent obviously meant oral threats.) But the sheer fact plea negotiations between the trial court and defense counsel can, and usually are, cabined off the record is hardly the totem of an indicated sentence the dissent makes of it. Considering the battles that were required to bring plea bargaining into the open, it would be ironic, to confer blessings on "negotiations" squirreled behind curtains and to denounce what seeps onto the record. The dissent's preference is for a rule that keeps "bargaining" off the record. That rule might lurch along if all parties were estopped from attacking guilty pleas that rest, in any degree, on unreported discussions. But there is no prospect of that.

As *Orin* reflects, judicial plea bargains are condemned on the offered consideration of sentencing leniency exchanged for waivers of fundamental constitutional rights. *Orin* overturned a judicial plea bargain on a record with no references to dickering or negotiation. The offered agreement and the prosecutor's objection were made off the record at a settlement discussion and were then repeated at the plea hearing, as here. (See 13 Cal.3d at pp. 940-941, 948.) That is how an ERC operates, not as a trial or sentencing or dismissal calendar, but as a change-of-plea calendar to induce pleas. No points are awarded under *Orin* for proffered leniency by the trial court so enticing it immediately induces a defendant's pleas and makes superfluous barter or threats by *anyone*, this defendant included.

D. The Court's Plea Agreement Rests, in Significant Part, on Illusory Consideration

Defendant entered pleas under a representation the striking of the strike would substantially increase his presentence conduct credits. (See fns. 5 & 7, ante.) That was incorrect, a matter addressed in argument V, post. More problematic is that "[t]he [trial] court awards such credits at the time of sentencing (§ 2900.5), not as an exercise of discretion, but based on the sheriff's report of' the number of days the defendant was in presentence custody. (Lara, supra, 54 Cal.4th at p. 903.) Because the trial court had no discretion over the award of presentence conduct credits, defendant's pleas rest on offered consideration beyond the court's power to negotiate. (See ibid.)

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S PLEA AGREEMENT WITH DEFENDANT WAS NOT A PERMISSIBLE INDICATED SENTENCE

Defendant mixes various themes into his apparent definition of indicating sentencing as a trial court's offer of a conditional plea agreement, including dismissals and specified sentences, to induce a package disposition of all charges. Generally, defendant asserts the People simply are not aggrieved by such plea agreements. We confront the more prominent of these themes before addressing the central issue.

A. Defendant's Polemic on Standing, Gaming, Consent, and Best Possible Results Is Unsupported by Authority

1. Standing

Defendant asserts the Court of Appeal misconstrued the *Felmann*'s dicta about indicated sentencing and *Lewallen*. He claims those decisions only proscribe coercing a defendant's waiver of a jury trial *because* of that waiver, i.e., offering more lenient treatment than the defendant would have received, in defendant's words, "but for his waiver of his right to a jury trial." (RBOM 16.) But that eccentric reading of the cases might assist him

only if "indicated sentencing" actually is, in law, a synonym for judicial plea bargaining. Defendant entered his pleas to all charges after the trial court declared its offer was given on the "understanding" of the parties that cases settled in the ERC are for somewhat less than the going disposition in the trial department. (1 RT 6-7.) Defendant necessarily entered his waivers and pleas on the trial court's expressed understanding of its package disposition—an offer that but for defendant's waivers and pleas in the ERC, he would not get "more lenient treatment than he otherwise would have received." (Felmann, supra, 59 Cal.App.3d at p. 277.) Even the dissent below acknowledged: "[A] true indicated sentence is not conditioned on a defendant's change of plea (in substance, 'if you plead guilty to all charges, I will impose a' specified sentence)" (DO 16, fn. 16.) Yet, defendant and the dissent agree what the trial court said, all things considered, is not the same as telling defendant "in substance, 'if you plead guilty to all charges, I will impose a' specified sentence." (Ibid.) What to make of such malleable substance is a mystery.

More clear is defendant's misreading of *Lewallen* and *Felmann*. Far from holding coercion of a jury-trial waiver the only improper inducement of a guilty plea, *Lewallen* cited section 1192.5 and *Felmann* for the principle that "a trial judge is precluded from offering an accused in return for a guilty plea a more lenient sentence than he would impose after trial." (*Lewallen*, *supra*, 23 Cal.3d at p. 281, citing *Falmann*, *supra*, 59 Cal.App. 31 at p. 276.) That is this case.

Defendant also cites *Collins*, *supra*, 26 Cal.4th at page 307, for his idea that a "guilty plea is improperly 'induced' only when the court has coerced a waiver of a right to a jury trial," from which he infers a prosecutor lacks "standing" to oppose an indicated sentence on the ground the court coerced the defendant. He then declares a discussion of "inducement" "academic" because any error only "affects the interests of

another party." (RBOM 16-17.) Collins did not involve a guilty plea and did not hint at the permissibility of judicial offers condemned in Lewallen. Neither Collins, nor defendant's curious notion of jury-trial-waiver coercion as the singular improper inducement of guilty pleas, bears conceivable relation to "standing" by the People. Defendant also asserts a prosecutor can only complain if "the record shows that the court has clearly engaged in negotiating the length of the sentence," as in Labora, supra, 190 Cal.App.4th at pages 915-916 that defendant cites by example. (RBOM 17.) Argument I, ante, addresses the fallacy of the dissent that presumably inspires this argument. Judicial promises inducing a guilty plea that rest on impermissible or illusory promises of leniency violate statute and detract from the plea bargaining system aside from the risk of coerced pleas.

The People have standing to challenge indicated sentences. Argument III, post, details Williams, supra, 17 Cal.4th 148, a People's appeal under Romero. There, this court accepted the People's argument that the trial court's illusory inducement by an improper indication of the appropriateness of striking strikes allowed withdrawal of a guilty plea. (Id. at pp. 164-165 & fn. 7.) Romero, like Orin, holds judicial plea agreements reviewable on timely objection by the prosecutor, because "society, represented by the People, has a legitimate interest in the fair prosecution of crimes properly alleged." (Romero, supra, 13 Cal.4th at p. 531, internal quotation marks omitted.) Defendant has never claimed the charges were improperly alleged or that the objections by the prosecutor were untimely.

2. Gaming the system

Seeking to legitimize, or at least mitigate, the trial court's actions (RBOM 9-10), defendant quotes *Orin*'s discussion (13 Cal.3d at p. 949) of what he calls the trial judge's power "to deal with the prosecutor's obdurate refusal to settle a case" (RBOM 9-10). Defendant says *Orin* "foretold" the indicated sentencing concept as "invaluable in clearing the court's calendar

when the prosecutor refuses to be reasonable." (RBOM 14.) Presumably to suggest an "obdurate refusal to settle" or at least a refusal to be "reasonable," defendant claims the prosecutor below tried to "game the system" by seeking "to veto the court's informed sentencing judgment in order to seek a more favorable result from a different judge," and asserts "[t]his type of forum shopping" is "inconsistent with California law," citing *People v. Traylor* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1213. (RBOM 20.)

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